

Bachelor's Programme in Economy and Society

Marijuana Legalization's Outcomes on Higher Education Decisions

Student Progression into University in the USA

By Amanda Pellish-Delin, amandapellish@gmail.com

EGESO Bachelor's Thesis (180 credits ECTS) August 2024 Supervisor: Erik Green Examiner: Faustine Perrin Word Count: 10,502

Abstract

The legalization of marijuana in the United States has prompted extensive debate and research, particularly concerning its impacts on various societal aspects. This study examines the influence of marijuana legalization on university education by comparing three Pacific Northwest states: Oregon (OR) and Washington (WA), which have legalized marijuana, and Idaho (ID), which maintains prohibition. The focus is on evaluating whether marijuana legalization affects university application and enrollment patterns among first-time freshmen.

Utilizing data from 2002 to 2018, this research analyzes trends in student applications and enrollments in relation to marijuana's legal status, alongside other socioeconomic factors such as high school GPA, state median income, population size, and unemployment rates. The findings indicate that, despite the growing body of research on marijuana's broad societal impacts, its legalization has had a minimal effect on higher education decisions in the studied states. This study's hypotheses, that marijuana legalization would lead to decreased university applications and enrollments, were not supported by the data.

The results suggest that while marijuana legalization is reshaping various aspects of society, including public health and economic factors, its direct impact on higher education remains modest. Future research should explore long-term effects and additional variables such as economic opportunities created by the marijuana industry, as well as the broader implications for educational attainment and societal change. This study highlights the importance of continuing to monitor and analyze the ever changing dynamics of marijuana legalization and its implications for educational decisions.

Key Words: Marijuana, United States, Oregon, Washington, Idaho, Legalization, Education

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my teachers, family, friends, and my boyfriend for the utmost support throughout the process of writing this thesis. Their encouragement and belief in me made this achievement possible, and I am forever grateful to have had them by my side.

With much love and appreciation, thank you.

Abbreviations and acronyms

RML - Recreational Marijuana Laws MML - Medical Marijuana Laws OSU - Oregon State University WSU - Washington State University BSU - Boise State University HS GPA - High School Grade Point Average CDS - Common Data Sets COVID-19 - Coronavirus Disease **PNW - Pacific Northwest** OR - Oregon WA - Washington ID - Idaho NSDUH - National Survey on Drug Use and Health DiD - Difference in difference OLS - Ordinary Least Squares IMRI - Iterative Robust-Model Imputation THC - delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol DEA - Drug Enforcement Administration OMMP - Oregon Medical Marijuana Program NHSDA - National Household Survey on Drug Abuse

STEM - Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	6
	1.1 Research Problem	6
	1.2 Aim and Scope	7
	1.2.1 Hypotheses	9
	1.3 Delimitations	9
	1.4 Outline of Thesis	10
2	Theoretical Framework	10
3	Previous Research	11
	3.1 Drug Classifications	13
	3.2 Marijuana Legalization History	13
	3.3 The Socioeconomic Effects	15
4	Data	17
	4.1 Source Material	17
	4.1.1 Source Criticism	17
5	Methods	18
	5.1 The Model	18
	5.2 Limitations	19
6	Empirical Analysis	20
	6.1 Results	20
	6.2 Discussion	25
7	Conclusion	27
	7.1 Research Aims	28
	7.2 Research Objectives	28
	7.3 Practical Implications	28
	7.4 Future Research	29
	7.5 Concluding Remarks	30
References		31
Aj	ppendix A	39

Tables and Figures

Table 1: DiD results for the model OSU, WSU, against BSU applications.

Table 2: DiD results for the model OSU, WSU, against BSU enrollments.

Table 3: Point-biserial correlation and p-values for OSU and WSU against BSU applications.

Table 4: Point-biserial correlation and p-values for OSU and WSU against BSU enrollments.

Table 5: Pearson correlation test results for independent variables (excluding legal status) for OSU applications and enrollments.

Table 6: Pearson correlation test results for independent variables (excluding legal status) for WSU applications and enrollments.

Table 7: Pearson correlation test results for independent variables (excluding legal status) for BSU applications and enrollments.

Figure 1: Independent variables relation to application patterns for OSU.

Figure 2: Independent variables relation to application patterns for WSU.

Figure 3: Independent variables relation to application patterns for BSU.

Figure 4: Independent variables relation to enrollment patterns for OSU.

Figure 5: Independent variables relation to enrollment patterns for WSU.

Figure 6: Independent variables relation to enrollment patterns for BSU.

1 Introduction

The legalization of marijuana has been a highly debated topic in the United States (US) dating back to the early 1900s (Hammond et. al., pg 2, 2020). It is an intricate debate as each state has the right to enact its state laws, while there is also a division between state and federal laws that are not always aligned. Federal law in the US has prohibited the sale, use, and possession of marijuana since 1937 in all 50 states (Pacula & Smart, pg 398, 2017). In the Pacific Northwest (PNW), Oregon (OR) and Washington (WA) have both passed state laws allowing the sale, use, and possession of marijuana medicinally and recreationally (Houser & Rosacker, pg 133, 2014). However, this is not the case for their neighboring state Idaho (ID), as Idaho maintains full restrictions on marijuana use (Fredericksen & Riggins, pg 18, 2017). The differing legislation across the US creates a compelling view of the potential impacts and outcomes of legalization or prohibition in a multitude of socioeconomic aspects, including university education. While there are differing state policies, the state universities all follow federal laws within their campuses, therefore prohibiting anything and everything regarding drugs, including marijuana (OSU, 2022; WSU, 2019; BSU, 2020).

1.1 Research Problem

The evolution of medical marijuana laws (MMLs) and recreational marijuana laws (RMLs) in the US may have created a new environment and lifestyle, inherently affecting norms and routines. Understanding the effects of these laws is crucial, specifically when looking at university education, as the student body is easily susceptible to changes in their environment (Jones, Jones & Peil, pg 256, 2018). In the most recent accessible data to the public, the year 2022, young adults in the US aged 18-25 reported a 51.9% use of marijuana in their lifetime (NSDUH, 2022). While undergraduate students (some college/associate's degree) reported lifetime marijuana use being 53.7% (NSDUH, 2022). This shows an average of half the US student body has tried marijuana at some point in their lives. Furthermore, undergraduate students reported a 26.9% use of marijuana in the past month across the US (NSDUH, 2022). These demographics highlight the significant portion of young adult lives that have been exposed to the controlled substance (Martins, et. al, 2016). If exposed, previous research shows that there are lasting socioeconomic effects, ranging from addiction problems to amotivational syndrome and decreasing human capital accumulation (Van Ours, 2007; Van Ours & Williams, 2014; Pacula, 2010; Pomykacz, 2020).

Looking specifically at the three PNW states; OR, WA, and ID, all show an increase in undergraduate student past-month marijuana usage between the years 2002 and 2014 (SAMHSA, 2016). Marijuana is the most commonly used illicit drug among college students (Suerken, et. al, pg 137, 2016). The National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) reports give an initial overview that marijuana has been and continues to be a likely attribute to changes in rational life decisions, such as education and job opportunities. These brief findings leave questions as to

how the use of an illicit drug may affect users in every aspect; financially, emotionally, and physically. Therefore, this research will add to previous research on marijuana consumption effects on rational thinking and decision making, specifically filling the gap as the research focuses on higher education choices.

1.2 Aim and Scope

This case study aims to investigate the effects marijuana legalization has on university students, focusing on three states in the US. By focusing on Oregon, Washington, and Idaho, the purpose of this study is to find whether easy and legal marijuana access changes the priorities and motivations of young adults and their pursuit of higher education attainment.

To accomplish this research objective, the case study will investigate this research question:

Has there been a change in student application and enrollment patterns for university students between US states associated with the legalization of marijuana?

This will be investigated by comparing the amount of first-time first-year freshman applications, enrollments, high school grade point average (HS GPA) of enrolled first-time first-year freshmen, state median income, state population, state unemployment rates, and state marijuana legal status (illegal/medical (0), and recreational (1)). The three states observed are the previously mentioned Oregon, Washington, and Idaho, with the period of the years 2002-2018. The different variables are categorized by the dependent variables: first-time first-year freshman applications and first-time first-year freshman enrollments, the control variables: state marijuana legal status (illegal/medical (0), and recreational (1)), and the independent variables: HS GPA of enrolled first-time first-year freshmen, state median income, state population, and state unemployment rates. These independent variables set the tone of the human capital already developed at the suggested time of application and enrollment. The human capital theory will therefore guide this study and will be further explained in the theoretical framework section.

These specific three states in the US were chosen for multiple of their comparable attributes. The three states make up the Pacific Northwest of the United States, all following their separate state laws. As of 2024, Oregon and Washington have legalized the use, sale, and possession of marijuana medically and recreationally. Idaho remains an illegal status on both medical and recreational use. Though, the three universities within these states, Oregon State University (OSU), Washington State University (WSU), and Boise State University (BSU), all have similar characteristics. Each university is located in settings which bring possible activities for those subsiding there. There are mountains, leaving the ability for outdoor activities such as hiking and skiing. They each all have a specific focus on STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics) education, with programs that attract students interested in these fields (Koretsky

et. al., 2015; Peterson et. al., 2015; Callahan et. al., 2014). They each also had similar undergraduate enrollment rates in the 20 to 30 thousand range for Fall 2022 (US News, 2023). The three universities have differing characteristics as well. OSU is located in Corvallis, OR, an urban setting. WSU is located in Pullman, WA, a rural setting. BSU is located in Boise, ID, an urban setting. In the 2023 US News & World Report, OSU ranked 142 in National University rankings. WSU ranked 178, and declared tuition fees at \$29,073 (out-of-state) and \$12,997 (in-state) (US News, 2023). OSU declared tuition fees at \$35,664 (out-of-state) and \$13,494 (in-state). BSU ranked 332 and declared tuition of \$26,976 (out-of-state) and \$8,782 (in-state) (US News, 2023). Whether it is out-of-state or in-state charges depends on where the student is coming from, and the current state of residence. The US university ranking system methods are based on nearly 19 measures of calculations across more than 1,500 US 4-year degree granting institutions (Morse & Brooks, 2023). The measures range from university characteristics such as academic quality to campus culture (Morse & Brooks, 2023). These comparisons and differences show potential drivers for applications and enrollments for each university.

Investigating the freshman application and enrollment patterns over the years 2002-2018 with regards to the changing legal policies and economic factors, the desired result is to conclude a deeper understanding of drug decriminalization and legalization. A deeper understanding will include the correlations between marijuana legalization and upper secondary educational attainment. In other words, this research will aim to provide insight on the potential outcomes legalization has on society and the future of higher education. This timespan being 2002-2018 was chosen due to other research timelines within relative topics, stopping before the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. Other socioeconomic hurdles during this time period will be discussed and accounted for, such as alcohol prohibition and the 2008 market crash, as well as future mentioned challenges. The start year for the research is 2002 due to limited available data prior to this year. The universities chosen are subject to four-year universities, with focus on the age group 18-25, specifically first-time first-year freshman, and will not further investigate other illicit drug use. This research will be of a quantitative study, through self-attained data from a multitude of reliable government and university sources.

The economic and social costs of using illicit drugs has been studied a multitude of times in the past (Van Ours, 2007; Van Ours & Williams, 2014; Pacula, 2010; Pomykacz, 2020). It is a topic thats' influence is continuous over time and ever evolving as the impacts grow more apparent. The impact of using marijuana has been demonstrated in every regard, whether that be the economic, social, safety, and production costs. The gap in literature this specific study aims to fill is the education costs, may the findings prove this. Previous research has addressed marijuana use among university students, however this case study focuses on the first-time first-year freshman choosing to move forward into adult society at a crucial turning point in one's life. Academically, less attention has been on the decisions for higher education in regards to marijuana legalization. Focusing on a comparison perspective, states that have legalized marijuana versus a state that is actively prohibiting the drug, this research provides a more

concentrated analysis. By looking at multiple variables within the model, further correlations and relationships within the socioeconomic and political realm are now accessible. Creating this model opens doors for scholars and policy makers to address the outcomes or consequences of legalization on academic choices, making future policies have a thorough grasp on how a state can effectively mitigate their evolving environment.

1.2.1 Hypotheses

Before further research and analysis, two hypotheses have been created based on basic knowledge of the subject. These are:

Marijuana legalization in a state leads to a decrease in annual university application rates due to changing priorities and altered perceptions of education's value.

Marijuana legalization in a state leads to a decrease in annual university enrollment rates, as students could decide on immediate labor market entry instead.

1.3 Delimitations

This study does not assume flawlessness, including personal boundaries within the experiment. The choice for the beginning year (2002) was due to data availability. Though, the end year (2018) was decided upon avoiding the COVID-19 pandemic. This choice was based on the extreme impact COVID-19 could have on students, as schooling was moved to online teaching, global lockdowns, potential job loss, among a multitude of other potential factors to account for (Sahu, 2020). The overall mental state of students due to this pandemic could alone influence their educational decisions (Sahu, 2020). The relatively small sample size of 17 years could absolutely affect the definitive results of causality. As well as the geographical scope, as the limitation section describes the potential issues with only three states, and they are all on the West Coast of the US. Only one region of the US is being studied, therefore there could be different results if the study was based on the East Coast, for example.

There are also delimitations in the theoretical framework. The human capital theory views educational attainment as an investment, and this study is more focused on the initial decision of education, not necessarily the outcomes of educational attainment (Marginson, 2017). Though, this approach is concentrated on the impacts of a certain policy change, therefore examining the initial reactions deems fit. As well as considering variables such as median household income, state unemployment rates, and state populations allow for other capital investments to be assessed.

1.4 Outline of Thesis

This thesis is formulated by first the introduction on what will be investigated and what are the expected outcomes the research will develop. The following section will be the theoretical framework for this study. Proceeding will be the previous research conducted. Then, data collection will be explained. The next section will be the case methodology employed. Following, the empirical analysis will describe the results and discussion of findings. Lastly, the conclusion section will complete this study.

2 Theoretical Framework

As this study considers the choices made by students entering university, and the environment these students are in which may alter the motivations for decisions made, the human capital theory becomes intricate to understand. The human capital theory will be the grounding theory of this research. "Human capital" has been outlined by the knowledge, skills, traits, and capability of an individual (Fleischhauer, pg 4, 2007). These individual characteristics create output into the economy and society when practiced. The capabilities can be grouped into two different categories, natural skills and acquired skills (Fleischhauer, pg 4, 2007). The human capital theory distinguishes the earnings of individuals based on their conscious decisions and actions while entering higher education and the workforce. Theodore Schultz was the first to refer to 'human capital' (Fleischhauer, pg 4, 2007). He shed a new light on education and training fees, labeling this expenditure as an asset rather than an expense. This created a snowball effect into the economic study on human capital and education intake and returns.

Becker (1993) was one of the first economists to review individual activities which provide future incomes. These activities include anything within the bounds of education, health, information, training, and labor mobility (Fleischhauer, pg 4, 2007). Though, future earnings are not the sole result of human capital. Internal aspects such as inheritance, could also have an impact. Human capital is not defined by how much money a person has. It is the individuality within these outputs, not physical nor financial, but the attributes which blossom through one's identity (Becker, 1993). Therefore, as the development of students' perspectives on education shifts, their human capital could as well.

Bryant, et. al (2000) further use a human capital model which stresses the personal history of drug use when observing lifetime earnings. They find that long-term use of both soft drugs (marijuana and hashish) and hard drugs (cocaine, heroin, psychedelics) results in a decline in wages and larger wage penalties (Bryant, et. al., pg 661, 2000). Overall, several academicians have concluded that drug habits reduce an individual's human capital when behavior oriented (Bryant, et. al, 2000). Therefore, utilizing the human capital assumptions on educational outcomes, this study can begin to highlight the lasting effects of marijuana use on university applications and enrollments.

This approach is aimed to gather the necessary information in order to evaluate and answer the question of shifts in application and enrollment patterns of university students in the US, given the state-by-state marijuana policies. Applying the human capital theory to the investigation allows for information gathering regarding academic performance and socioeconomic status, emphasizing the different potential outcomes of using marijuana, both heavily and occasionally. The status of these factors have the potential to shift overtime, if perceived notions begin to differ with marijuana legal statuses. Therefore, organizational and individual behavior can also be considered through decisions made by university entering students when using a human capital framework. These decisions being choosing to apply to a college, or enroll in said college after being admitted.

3 Previous Research

Marijuana is a greenish colored hemp plant, referred to as Cannabis sativa, which commonly arrives as a mixture of the dried and shredded leaves, stems, seeds and flowers (Hanson, pg 1, 2002). While under the influence of marijuana's main active chemical, called delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), studies show it to cause mind-altering effects (Hanson, pg 1, 2002). Along with the immediate effects, long-term effects of marijuana consumption can consist of memory and learning impairment, addiction, and increased risk of chronic cough diseases and cancers (Hanson, pg 3, 2002). In 2001, the National Household Survey on Drug Abuse (NHSDA) reported more than 83 million Americans aged 12 and older to have used marijuana in one of these forms at least once in their life (Hanson, pg 2, 2002).

Over the past few decades, US marijuana state policies have been transitioning into a cannabis-friendly lifestyle. Whether it be policies which legalize the drug as medicinal or recreational, newly enacted MMLs and RMLs in the US have been altering the daily routines for many Americans (Pacula, 2010). As state-level penalties for possession, use, and sale of marijuana disappear across states, many more questions surrounding the impact of this available drug appear. As of 2024, 38 states have legalized medical marijuana, and 24 states have legalized medicinal marijuana (NCSL, 2024). As the more states legalize, the motivations behind legalization are questioned. This legalization is questioned as there is a multitude of research connecting marijuana use with lower human capital accumulation.

The defiant innovation within states, the process in which states pass legislation on factors which do not align with the federal government, is most apparent when beginning to understand why this illicit drug has been made available for the public (Hannah & Mallinson, 2018). The main reasons for legalization can be divided into 4 categories: economic benefits, social justice reform, medical benefits, and the public opinion. Legalizing marijuana allows for a new source of tax revenue for the states, which have been deemed necessary since state strained budgets (Pacula & Smart, pg 398, 2017). Regarding social justice, the costs of arrests and incarcerations

of nonviolent offenders have additionally increased state budgetary costs (Pacula & Smart, pg 398, 2017). Lastly, medicinal benefits have been highlighted in recent decades, with scientific proof that the cannabinoids have the potential of therapeutic results, which all heighten the public's opinion in approving the utilization of the marijuana plant (Pacula & Smart, pg 399, 2017). This public support is apparent in a gallup poll showing 50% of Americans supporting the legalization in 2014 (Houser & Rosacker, pg 131, 2014). The state's defiant innovation of legalizing marijuana is still quite the phenomenon despite these reasons, as the federal government continues to classify marijuana as an illegal, dangerous drug.

The previous research on the topic of marijuana legalization in the US has explored different perspectives and multiple considerations. One study by Harwood et.al (pg 659, 1984) targeted the economic costs of using marijuana, resulting in finding nearly \$26 billion in lost wages across the US. Other previous academic papers have stated to have found a positive correlation between drug use and wages, especially when isolating marijuana (Bryant, et. al, 2000). One will find a substantial amount of different outlooks on the impact of drugs, though awareness on the topic grounded in human capital result in new insights. A multitude of previous research has aimed to differentiate chronic and non chronic marijuana use in an individual. The way one research study has done this is by identifying four separate use groups, finding that heavy and ex-users exhibit lower levels of overall motivation in life (Creason & Goldman, pg 451, 1981).

This differentiation between users allows for a deeper analysis on the outcomes of marijuana use. Adjacent to the different types of users is the amount of overall population consumption following legalization and whether this may change. Pacula (2010) states through this particular case study focused on California, that total consumption will rise following legalization as the number of new users is likely to occur, resulting in a larger amount of regular and heavy users. The study also emphasizes that the individual consumption of regular users will increase to heavy user numbers as availability grows (Pacula, pg 10, 2010). This increase in marijuana use across subgroups could inevitably have a life-long effect, moving through the economic life cycle ranging from higher education to the labor market.

The impact of marijuana decriminalization and legalization is encapsulated by the human capital theory. French, et. al, (pg 746, 2022) further emphasizes legalization increases adolescent use. The outcomes of this increased use at a young age is what this study wishes to find, and whether this growth is creating new perceptions on the worth of higher education. Out-of-state university students reported a higher past-month marijuana use when compared to in-state students, raising the question of whether the legal status of marijuana is now a consideration when choosing undergraduate studies as well (French, et. al, pg 746, 2022). The integration of legal marijuana into societies is clearly altering priorities and lifestyles, therefore human capital is the prime theoretical framework to base this study on.

3.1 Drug Classifications

In the US, the federal government classifies the different types of drugs through a system called drug scheduling (DEA, 2018). Every version of a drug, controlled substance, and specific chemicals which are used for the creation of a drug are differentiated into five separate categories, or schedules. The abuse prevalence is the focal point for each category, meaning the higher the risk of abuse or dependence, specifies which schedule the drug will be classified as. For example, Schedule I drugs have a high risk of abuse and dependence, which in turn could create negative psychological or physical effects (DEA, 2018). As the category shifts to Schedule II, Schedule IV, and Schedule V, so does the abuse rate. The abuse rate and dependency risk decrease through each classification. Marijuana is currently classified as a Schedule I illicit drug by the federal US government (DEA, 2018). This can infer that under federal law, marijuana is a high risk drug, with extreme potential for negative effects regarding health and wellness. Federal law continues to not align with certain state's laws, considering marijuana as a drug with high potential of abuse as well as no lawfully medical use. Therefore, people making decisions about their education could experience alterations to rational thoughts and choices if marijuana is being used and abused, despite legalization.

3.2 Marijuana Legalization History

Industrial hemp, a plant within the botanical class of Cannabis sativa, has been capitalized in the US since the 1600s (Houser & Rosacker, pg 131, 2014). Marijuana also has a large global history of medicinal use for many centuries (Houser & Rosacker, pg 131, 2014). Though, in 1921 the US constitution began prohibiting the consumption of intoxicating chemicals, specifically alcohol, including marijuana, through the 18th amendment (Houser & Rosacker, pg 132, 2014). Not long after, in 1937, the federal government came to the realization that prohibiting certain substances was not sustainable, and lifted these prohibitions, and began trying to benefit off of this human behavior through taxation (Houser & Rosacker, pg 132, 2014). This resulted in the Marijuana Tax Act of 1937, which was eventually deemed unconstitutional in 1969 (Houser & Rosacker, pg 132, 2014).

The Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970 then followed, with the implementation of the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) in 1973, which was created by President Nixon (Houser & Rosacker, pg 132, 2014). These enactments highlighted the War of Drugs, aiming to combat the use of harmful substances, those being classified into the five schedules. A large magnitude of arrests were made in the following decades, costing taxpayers over one trillion US dollars (Houser & Rosacker, pg 133, 2014).

As decades pass, and marijuana use is increasingly normalized, the federal government has begun to shift their ideology. The 2013 Cole Memo highlights this, as it emphasized shifting priorities regarding marijuana consumption. The cole memo stated that the federal government altered their focus to:

- "Preventing the distribution of marijuana to minors;
- at Preventing revenue from the sale of marijuana from going to criminal enterprises, gangs, and cartels;
- Preventing the diversion of marijuana from states where it is legal under state law in some form to other states;
- as Preventing state-authorized marijuana activity from being used as a cover or pretext for the trafficking of other illegal drugs or other illegal activity;
- Preventing violence and the use of firearms in the cultivation and distribution of Marijuana;
- Preventing drugged driving and the exacerbation of other adverse public health consequences associated with marijuana use;
- Preventing the growing of marijuana on public lands and the attendant public safety and environmental dangers posed by marijuana production on public lands; and
- Preventing marijuana possession or use on federal property"

(Houser & Rosacker, pg 135, 2014).

Though the federal government changed their expectations of marijuana in the US lifestyle, it is important to note that the federal government still gives warning that if states do not comply with their expectations, they will interfere (Houser & Rosacker, pg 138, 2014). This means that although states are given the opportunity of individual law expression, they are not alone nor in control. Therefore, state-by-state laws still must be in compliance with federal laws, and there is still a risk of prosecution by federal law, whether in compliance or not, as the federal government decides when interference is deemed necessary. Though, as the federal government continues to advocate for heavy marijuana regulation, states have begun to decriminalize the Schedule I drug instead, due to the socioeconomic motivations earlier discussed.

Oregon was one of the first states to alter the perception of marijuana, treating possession of the drug as a simple traffic ticket in 1973 (Houser & Rosacker, pg 133, 2014). In the following decades, the Oregon Medical Marijuana Program (OMMP) was enacted in 1998 (NCSL, 2024). Recreational marijuana use, for ages 21 and older, was then passed through Ballot Measure 91 in 2014, which went into effect July 1st, 2015 (Fox 12, 2014). Washington led this change by legalizing medical marijuana in 1998 through Initiative 692 (Shaefer, 1998). Legal recreational

use for ages 21 and older was passed in 2012, by initiative 502, going into effect December 6th, 2012 (Ruhomally, et. al, pg 1112, 2022). Idaho currently continues to keep medical and recreational use of marijuana illegal (Fredericksen & Riggins, pg 18, 2017). The reason why Idaho has not followed its neighboring states in legislation is not explicit, though it could be due to concerns of public safety (Fredericksen & Riggins, pg 18, 2017). Though, as Oregon and Washington report revenue gains, Idaho legislation will likely see the topic of marijuana enter the legislature (Fredericksen & Riggins, pg 18, 2017). Public safety and enforcement costs rising at state borders and the commodities' profits in the neighboring states will potentially change the status of legality in coming years (Fredericksen & Riggins, pg 18, 2017).

3.3 The Socioeconomic Effects

As marijuana legislation develops throughout the US, and prior research shows an increase in consumption and negative human capital outcomes, the socioeconomic effects are in question. A multitude of studies find positive correlations between marijuana use and decreased wages, along with decreasing educational attainment (Van Ours, 2007; Van Ours & Williams, 2014; Pacula, 2010; Pomykacz, 2020). These are central aspects to accumulating human capital, therefore marijuana legalization and common consumption could be associated with lower human capital outcomes. As the foundation for life itself varies, outcomes from development begin to blur the lines of 'the right choice'. Interchanging socioeconomic environments have established norms, rules, or behaviors which shape current social and organizational behavior (Dacin, et. al, pg 46, 2002). The legalization of marijuana in the US is notably changing societal views on what is acceptable, healthy, and profitable, highlighting the potential shift in academic choices.

Alongside decreasing labor market success and educational attainment, mental health effects have been previously associated with marijuana use (Van Ours & Williams, pg 993, 2014). There has been an overwhelming amount of epidemiology literature, including medical studies, in recent decades with the aim of education on the health effects that moderate and frequent use of marijuana brings (Van Ours & Williams, pg 999, 2014). Through these papers, it is apparent that although the Schedule I drug has been legalized in many US states, people should not assume no adverse effects from consumption. Heavy long-term use of marijuana has been found positively correlated with depression and schizophrenia (Van Ours & Williams, pg 999, 2014). The correlation between heavy and current marijuana use and psychosis has been documented to have unreliable results, though could have an effect nonetheless (Van Ours & Williams, pg 999, 2014). The three economic studies Van Ours & Williams (2014) refer to regarding mental health affects overall find that marijuana use has a negative relationship with psychological well-being.

As frequent marijuana use has been found to negatively impact a person's mental well-being, the spillover effects could be seen through labor market outcomes. One study emphasizes these spillover effects by observing prime-age male workers in Amsterdam who use the drug (Van Ours, 2007). They find that there is ultimately a negative effect on wages earned in those who

use marijuana consistently, comparing this to those who use cocaine, concluding that while marijuana has an effect, cocaine use does not (Van Ours, 2007). The reasons for these results are unclear, though Van Ours (2007) highlights the potential health effects and school drop outs could be of cause.

While Mitchell et. al., (2020) discover the increase in marijuana use proceeding legalization in the US, it is apparent that the age group susceptible to developing the habit are young adults. This could lead to lower levels of education attained, emphasized through the Van Ours & Williams (2014) research paper. This study finds that chronic marijuana use results in an increase of 1.5-2% chance of dropping out of school (Van Ours & Williams, pg 1003, 2014). The study also emphasizes that the earlier on in high school marijuana is abused, the higher the chance of future drop out (Van Ours & Williams, pg 1004, 2014). This could be due to the health effects previously stated, as well as the onset of amotivational syndrome, also known as the amotivational syndrome hypothesis (Creason & Goldman, 1981). This hypothesis assumes that marijuana use will ultimately decrease users' will to achieve and overall activity levels (Creason & Goldman, pg 447, 1981). The negative effects of adolescent marijuana use and lower education trajectories are further emphasized in similar papers studying university student outcomes, which consist of findings exhibiting poor academic performance and lower academic achievements for heavy users when compared to casual and non-users (Suerken et. al., 2016; Jones et. al., 2018; Allen & Holder, 2013; Thompson et. al., 2018; Bryant et. al., 2000). Though much of the previous literature on marijuana intake creates different levels of marijuana intake, the data in this study is unable to decipher between them. Therefore, this study is limited in assuming marijuana use as one index, assuming higher use in legal states.

The subgroups of marijuana users have been identified in different words across studies, but each follow the same guidelines, categorizing these subgroups range from no use to everyday dependency (Pacula, 2010; Mitchell et. al., 2020; Creason & Goldman, 1981). Throughout a multitude of these studies, the results are most similar. The findings show that heavy or moderate use of marijuana will have lasting, diminishing human capital (Ringel, et. al., 2006). While this may be true, the economic research surrounding the relationship between marijuana use and labor market outcomes is still contradicting. Most studies find that infrequent use of marijuana will not cause wage penalties nor impact labor supply (Van Ours & Williams, pg 1005, 2014). Though, in many cases, problematic use of marijuana is associated with negative wage effects (Van Ours & Williams, pg 1005, 2014). Overall, previous research heavily advocates that chronic use of marijuana will result in negative human capital outcomes. This ranges from developing behavioral disorders to low educational attainment, which in turn inevitably could lead to negative labor market outcomes. This is supported through the work of Pomykacz (2020) as he stresses that individuals with higher levels of education exhibit little to no use of drugs. It is to be noted that these outcomes only encompass a few of the socioeconomic effects from legalizing marijuana which are most important for this study, as there is most likely a multitude of others not studied due to the purpose of analyzing higher education decisions.

4 Data

The data compiled for this study was attained through multiple government and state university data files. Focused on the three universities; OSU, WSU, and BSU, data was found on individual sites. Regarding overall state factors, government state-by-state features were desired. The years 2002-2018 were isolated. Once each observation was consolidated, personal data sheets were organized in preparation for testing.

4.1 Source Material

The first datasets of use were from the OSU and WSU Common Data Sets (CDS). Each academic year was an individual file, with the Fall term as a focal point. The CDS were available online to the public via their university institutional research, a collaborative effort with the aim to provide accurate information on a student's transition into higher education. These CDS are updated yearly. In regards to BSU, the university's archive data files were applied. BSU's facts and figures reports were also utilized to attain certain variables. The state-by-state variables were gathered through government and university reports (Census 2021; Census 2021; Census 2023; U.S. BLS 2019; WSU, 2015; WSU, 2024; BSU, 2024; OSU, 2024).

There were a total of eight variables collected, two dependent variables and six independent variables. The two dependent variables consist of first-time first-year freshman applications and enrollments 2002-2018. The first four independent variables consist of first-time first-year freshman HS GPA, state-by-state median income in current US dollars, state-by-state population, and state-by-state unemployment rates. The next independent variable being the years 2002-2018. The final independent variable being the marijuana legal status, which was categorized by (0) illegal/medicinally legal, (1) recreationally legal.

Upon reviewing the available data from the latter mentioned sources, the specific variables were chosen due to relation to human capital and education attainment. In other words, the six dependent and independent were considered with regards to aspects which could have an influence on the state of mind and current conditions a young adult may be in when progressing from high school to university. The time span 2002-2018 was decided upon data availability, in relation to similar previous study time frames. The three categories of marijuana legalization allows for emphasis on the changing policies over the years in each state.

4.1.1 Source Criticism

These data sources were carefully selected, ensuring reliability, the sources all contain real-life number projections and rates. The authors of the different data sets are all university and government verified. The sources aim to further educate the public on education and living factors, therefore no personal bias or altered motives should be of issue. The sources are

up-to-date and open to revision if necessary. However, some of the data is aggregated at the state-level, meaning the universities specific county numbers could be masked. Additionally, the openness to revision could potentially create issues regarding inconsistencies. Overall, the data is trustworthy and gives an accurate depiction for the standing research question.

5 Methods

The methodology of this research is influenced by the latter mentioned theoretical approach, focusing on the priorities of individuals and their current lifestyle when establishing themselves as adults in society. University is an option, and not all take the option up, not all feel the need to, though the reasoning for this big decision is captivating to analyze when new policies could be having an effect. This is a comparative study, observing three individual universities with differing policies in the US, as well as considering various contextual factors within these states (Bryman, pg 147, 2021). The study uses a quasi-experimental design by comparing the data collected pre and post legalization, which is not randomized (Bryman, pg 121, 2021). The sampling process used a purposive sampling approach. This is a type of non-probability sampling, the critical case sampling approach was implemented (Bryman, pg 734, 2008). Critical case sampling chooses variables as they "display features that are central to the phenomenon of interest" (Bryman, pg 734, 2021). Additionally, the study is both intertemporal and longitudinal, examining data across a range of years, and focusing on the same three universities over this time period (Wrigley, 1986).

5.1 The Model

The comparative and quasi-experimental design is applied through the use of a Difference-in-Differences (DiD) model. The DiD approach can estimate the causal impact of marijuana legalization by comparing the annual applications and the annual enrollments between the treatment (pre-legalization vs post-legalization) and the control groups (never legalized) at each university through the years 2002-2018. DiD is a well-known analysis method used by a multitude of economists, suitable for estimating the effects of policy interventions and changes (Lechner, 2010). Human capital theory guided the process of data collection and model creation through the assumptions that capital investment decisions are based in rational thinking, and marijuana influence has been noted (described throughout the theory section) to affect a person's state of mind and alter motivations, potentially changing what is deemed as 'rational' (Bryant, et. al, 2000). The theory was utilized when choosing the variables in this model as it assumes that investment in education will result in future earnings, creating more human capital, and the chosen variables all could show an impact on the initial decisions (applications and enrollments), the differing policy statuses (illegal/medicinally legal and recreationally legal), and the current

environment of potential university students (median household income, population, and unemployment). Each of these factors encompass what could be considered a rational or irrational decision under differing circumstances. The program R was used to calculate said estimations, as well as later discussed correlations and regressions (R Core Team, 2024).

In rare cases, there were a few observations not accounted for in the data. This will be further discussed in the limitations sections. As a result, R will aid in imputing these missing values. Imputing is a process in which researchers can replace missing data with calculated imitation values (Templ, et. al, pg 2793, 2011). There are multiple types of imputation used in various programming languages. In this case, the algorithm called Iterative Robust-Model Imputation (IRMI) was applied (Templ, et. al, pg 2795, 2011). Once this is complete, running DiD and correlation tests is possible. Besides the DiD estimation, correlation tests will also be conducted. This is to further quantify the relation between the given variables. The Pearson correlation test for a more comprehensible analysis of results to answer the null and alternative hypotheses (Bakdash & Marusich, 2017). In addition to the Pearson correlation test, a point-biserial test, which is a special case of the Pearson correlation tests, where there is one binary variable and a continuous one, will be analyzed (Kornbrot, 2005). These two correlation tests will complement each other in the empirical analysis.

5.2 Limitations

The method explained does not assume flawlessness. Throughout the process, limitations were introduced. Limitations included factors regarding university data, different time periods for policy adjustments, desired variables unable to be collected, and a common limitation of causality.

The time period 2002 to 2018 was decided upon data availability. Each university had their own portal for data, therefore not every year was accounted for on each database. This meant that the time frame was unable to match across all three universities dating before 2002. If they had, the beginning year for the datasheet would likely go further back than 2002. Another limitation was that of the legalization year. Each state follows their individual laws, in this case, the specific law of marijuana use, sale, and possession were all different. That is the main focal point of this study, though when using the model, this created a smaller time frame of observation for Oregon. Washington fully legalized marijuana in 2012, while Oregon followed a few years later in 2015. Hence, when running the DiD and correlation tests, the years for observation would always be different for Washington and Oregon. Washington had 7 years post-legalization of the amount of universities, only encapsulating the changes in three states, which could limit the full impact of legalization across all US states.

Other limitations regarding data and human error are of course plausible. The data had 1% of missing values, therefore imputation was the chosen remedy. This undeniably may alter the results, though data manipulation is a common tactic in quantitative research. Human error is also always a possibility, depending on how the data was reported. It is also important to emphasize that none of the data relates to the different use levels of marijuana, only the legal status of the drug, therefore the status is the only change, not how much one may use given the legal status. Though this is depicted in the previous research section, this study is unable to conduct the difference.

Another limitation was that of independent variable choices. Guided by the human capital theory, variable categories were specifically chosen in relation to educational decisions and environments. There were a number of categories that could have been included to show further correlations which may affect the outcomes, though reliable data was undiscovered. Also, the limitation of causality is apparent due to the purposive sampling technique used. This is because the US states chosen could have underlying reasons for legalization, therefore these underlying reasons could be visible to students when making educational decisions, causing a shift unrecognizable in the data provided. Time lag effects are also considered in the limitations of this study, as the impact of legalization could potentially take years to integrate into society, though based on previous research the time lag is accounted for as marijuana use increase is viewed within a year.

6 Empirical Analysis

Using DiD estimation and the correlations depicted above in the program R, the study proceeds to the analysis stage. Using the knowledge from previous research, the perspective of the theoretical framework, and accounting for limitations and delimitations in the methodology, a thorough investigation will be done. Results will be exhibited through tables and figures, then further examined.

6.1 Results

The proceeding tables will exhibit the results from the DiD model and the complementing correlation models. The figures will exhibit the independent variables' individual relationship regarding applications and enrollments for each university through scatter plots and Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression lines.

Coefficients	Applic	cations	
	OSU (p-value)	WSU (p-value)	
Intercept	0.043851 *	0.00243 **	
Treated	0.000780 ***	0.0000162 ***	
Time	0.530117	0.64517	
DiD	0.724673	0.06314 .	
Income	0.104289	0.07418 .	
Population	0.000742 ***	0.00000822 ***	
Unemployment	0.781213	0.06855 .	
GPA	0.347164	0.00762 **	
Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1			

Table 1: DiD results for the model OSU, WSU, against BSU applications.

Table 2: DiD results for the model OSU, WSU, against BSU enrollments.

Coefficients	Enrollment		
	P-value (OSU)	P-value (WSU)	
Intercept	0.33409	0.0403 *	
Treated	0.00805 **	0.0968 .	
Time	0.25405	0.5458	
DiD	0.11748	0.6333	
Income	0.30101	0.1621	
Population	0.00187 **	0.0395 *	
Unemployment	0.8579	0.7858	
GPA	0.2893	0.0420 *	
Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1			

University	Legal-status	
	Correlation	P-value
Oregon (OSU)	0.6317	0.006539
Washington (WSU)	0.8631	0.000008148

Table 3: Point-biserial correlation and p-values for OSU and WSU against BSU applications.

Table 4: Point-biserial correlation and p-values for OSU and WSU against BSU enrollments.

University	Legal-status	
	Correlation	P-value
Oregon (OSU)	0.5429	0.02433
Washington (WSU)	0.8244	0.00004610

Table 5: Pearson correlation test results for independent variables (excluding legal status) for OSU applications and enrollments.

OSU/O	Dregon	Correlation	P-value
applications	population	0.898166494914983	9.86392121760105e-07
applications	income	0.785551793959158	0.000186190800401498
applications	unemployment	-0.177234008045027	0.496180472825351
applications	GPA	0.87073977931254	5.43280418474623e-06
applications	years	0.917946021068376	2.07110979255631e-07
enrollment	income	0.731015542909194	0.000856607993553915
enrollment	population	0.874414045247219	4.42506608333559e-06
enrollment	unemployment	-0.0487610722565504	0.852568000865153
enrollment	GPA	0.795743144408319	0.000133420735114687
enrollment	years	0.88665240656755	2.12798866305874e-06

WSU/Wa	ashington	Correlation	P_Value
applications	income	0.906180418052799	5.46339711249288e-07
applications	population	0.957666613186153	1.62677715742632e-09
applications	unemployment	-0.332140782004679	0.192748066807031
applications	GPA	-0.508266371632307	0.0372333537091114
applications	years	0.950988341907418	4.7860431173774e-09
enrollment	income	0.881038220050605	3.00674351283448e-06
enrollment	population	0.937289421893535	2.9196491890815e-08
enrollment	unemployment	-0.180303041221826	0.48862842607662
enrollment	GPA	-0.675474731209786	0.00292227349386964
enrollment	years	0.939901118512199	2.13849520314113e-08

Table 6: Pearson correlation test results for independent variables (excluding legal status) for WSU applications and enrollments.

Table 7: Pearson correlation test results for independent variables (excluding legal status) for BSU applications and enrollments.

BSU/	Idaho	Correlation	P_Value
applications	income	0.858182165284553	1.04827115445794e-05
applications	population	0.90992727997108	4.06965876331711e-07
applications	unemployment	-0.193433605082571	0.456956601458088
applications	GPA	0.905030009948575	5.96581591238987e-07
applications	years	0.94164285759644	1.72400322906441e-08
enrollment	income	0.810950481446005	7.83035782250252e-05
enrollment	population	0.7188324765168	0.00114820217710809
enrollment	unemployment	-0.403848515209008	0.107916380645519
enrollment	GPA	0.647954283667831	0.00491184237676512
enrollment	years	0.705760424944492	0.00154754486951125

Overall, the results show that marijuana legalization has little to no impact on application and enrollment patterns when other outside factors are included in observing the p-values and correlation numbers through the Pearson correlation test and DiD estimation. Though, when isolated, the point-biserial test shows that legalization may alter these patterns to an extent. The p-values highlight the factors' statistical significance for the given data. This means that if the p-value is less than 0.05, it rejects the null hypothesis, which suggests that there is no relationship and impact between the factor and the outcome. In this case, the factors are the

independent variables used, including legal status, and the outcome being applications and enrollments. These p-values are not to be taken as the complete truth, as the limitations of a small sample size is its own factor. The more data points, the more accurate the estimations. There are only 4 points after Oregon legalized marijuana to evaluate and only 7 points after Washington legalized marijuana to evaluate, restricting the DiD model as well as the correlation test evaluations. There are also the outliers and imputed data points, discussed in the limitations and delimitations, to consider when reviewing the model results.

The DiD estimation was used to utilize the chosen control group being BSU, due to the legal status being illegal, and the treatment groups being WSU and OSU, as these two states have fully legalized marijuana. Given the contents of tables 1-2, the findings are constrained, yet acceptable. Table 1 finds that the treated groups experienced a p-value of 0.72 for OSU and a p-value of 0.06 for WSU. This means that the statistical significance for both treatment groups is above 0.05, concluding that there is no meaningful impact between legalizing marijuana and number of applications. This test was run twice, to find the impact on both applications and enrollments. Through the DiD estimation regarding enrollments, the treated groups experienced a p-value of 0.12 for OSU and a p-value of 0.63 for WSU. These findings also exhibit that there is no impact on enrollments given legalization of marijuana in these given US states. Both of these results are consistent with the null hypothesis, while also rejecting the two initial hypotheses being that applications and enrollments would decrease following the legalization of recreational marijuana in these states. The individual coefficients, when run through a DiD estimation, show a positive correlation for population size (and the p-value is significantly less than 0.05), in both Oregon and Washington, having an impact on application numbers for the universities throughout the treatment. GPA also shows a positive correlation though in Washington only, meaning that the GPA of first-time first year freshmans influence the decision to apply to WSU throughout the treatment. Regarding enrollment patterns, the latter explanation also applies. Income and unemployment show no statistically significant impact on applications nor enrollments for OSU and WSU throughout the treatment. Regarding the intercept and treated coefficients listed within the DiD estimation, their p-values represent the pre-treatment numbers, which in the case of this study are irrelevant as the aim is to show the reaction on application and enrollment numbers given change in marijuana legislation and will not be further discussed. This also applies to the time coefficient as this p-value only exhibits the overall effect of the passage of time on the outcome variable for all groups.

For tables 3-7, the p-values and correlations have been calculated separately to distinguish the individual relationships. Categorical factors, such as legal status of legalized and illegal, were calculated with a point-biserial correlation test while the other independent, yet continuous variables, were calculated with the Pearson correlation test. These tests allow for a thorough analysis of the relationships within legalizing marijuana.

The first point-biserial test (refer to table 3) shows OSU and WSU applications against the applications in the control group, BSU, emphasizing that the legal status in the given state has a high statistically significant impact on application patterns when isolating the categorical variable. The second point-biserial test (refer to table 4) shows OSU and WSU enrollments against the enrollments in the control group, BSU, showing similar results to that of table 3. This means that when taking the other socioeconomic factors chosen into account, the results may differ and legal status may not be as significant.

The Pearson correlation tests (refer to tables 5,6, and 7) do the opposite as the point-biserial test. This test looks for statistical significance through the independent variables, or the socioeconomic factors chosen, disregarding legal status. Through the Pearson correlation, it is clear that highly significant factors are population, income, and GPA when looking at both application and enrollment patterns over the years for both OSU and WSU. These findings are concurrent with the initial DiD estimations, though the DiD model did not find income significant for either OSU or WSU, nor GPA for OSU.

These findings can be further assumed when analyzing the scatter plot graphs, see appendix A, figures 1 and 4, which shows that applications and enrollments both have a linear relationship with the socioeconomic factors population and income for OSU. The scatter plots for WSU, see appendix A, figures 2 and 5, show a linear relationship for socioeconomic factors population and income as well. The scatter plots show a more inconsistent relationship regarding GPA for both BSU and WSU, which could be due to a multitude of factors ranging from university budget constraints to individual preferences. The scatter plots for BSU, see appendix A, figures 3 and 6, also show a somewhat linear relationship between applications and population, income, and GPA. The same stands for BSU enrollments respectively.

6.2 Discussion

Overall, it is clear through the results of the DiD estimations and correlation tests that marijuana legalization is unlikely a leading factor in application and enrollment patterns in OR, WA, and ID. Through the isolation of using the point-biserial correlation, it is apparent that legalizing marijuana may have an effect on the number of university applicants and enrolled students, though when integrating other socioeconomic factors such as population size, household incomes, HS GPAs, and unemployment rates, the legal status effectiveness is lesser than. These results then reject the two initial hypotheses that application rates and enrollment rates would decrease following marijuana legalization, and answers the research question. There has been a clear change in student application and enrollment patterns for university students between US states; they have generally been increasing since 2002, though the specific patterns within this steady increase has little to do with the legalization of marijuana.

The leading factors which show a high impact on university applications and enrollments are the state's population size, household median incomes, and the GPAs of enrolled students. These determinants are logical, as with a growing population, there will be more students entering the higher education realm, searching for the next step in life. Household incomes are also a reasonable influence, since education in the US is far from free, and tuition is a large economic burden. Therefore, students must value higher education greatly for it to be worthwhile. It could be possible that the point-biserial found legal status of high statistical significance in this case, as heavy marijuana use has been previously associated with amotivational syndrome and behavioral disorders, which could ultimately affect a person's view on life goals, altering priorities (Creason & Goldman, 1981). University could also simply not be an option given certain incomes, therefore having a large impact on applications and enrollments. The HS GPA of enrolled students is also comprehensible. The higher the HS GPA of enrolled students, the perceived likelihood of acceptance is fitted, meaning if a student's HS GPA is much lower than the average enrolled student, there may be a less chance of getting accepted. Therefore, this could easily lower the application rates. Regarding enrollment patterns, those with higher HS GPAs could likely have applied to a large number of universities, thus having more options, and could choose a range of universities outside of OSU, WSU, or BSU. The inverse relationship between HS GPA and WA applications and enrollments is seen through the negative slope of the OLS. This could be due to a multitude of reasons, one being that students in WA commonly choose to go out-of-state for college. The choice to go out-of-state for university could be due to a variety of reasons.

Unemployment rates not having an apparent impact on applications nor enrollments is interesting as one could assume it relates to choices of entering the labor market or taking the time to complete higher education first, as well as having an effect on the household incomes. Though, none of the tests showed a correlation and the scatter plots presented a non-linear relationship. Therefore, unemployment rates could possibly encompass other underlying factors, such as varying regional economic conditions, the availability of alternative education or training opportunities, or differing perceptions of job market stability, that may not be directly captured through simple linear analysis. These complexities suggest that further investigation of how unemployment interacts with educational decisions is warranted.

Although previous research exhibits that marijuana use, especially in high quantities over a long period of time, will have an effect on human capital accumulation, the results of this case study show that the treatment of legalizing marijuana is improbable to have a large enough significance to alter student progression into higher education. While marijuana legalization might introduce certain social and behavioral shifts, these findings imply that its impact on educational outcomes, such as college applications and enrollment rates, remains minimal. This suggests that other factors, such as socioeconomic conditions, academic preparedness, and institutional support, play a more crucial role in shaping students' educational trajectories than the legal status of marijuana.

Though, it is also important to continue to stress the fact that a smaller sample size definitely has an effect on the results.

The long-term effects of continuous marijuana use may not show large changes in the data only 4 or 7 years after legalization, however marijuana legalization is quite a new law in US states, and with the impact of COVID-19, it may be hard to define the exact impact. These small sample size limitations and delimitations have been discussed in the given sections, allowing for understanding as to why this particular case study may be limited in findings. It is also important to be aware that the population, household income, and unemployment rates each were gathered from a state overview. Hence, the levels of these independent variables were not collected in the specific region which each university exists in. This could potentially shift the results, though it is also essential to form a holistic point of view of these factors as many students move throughout the given state to arrive at university.

Taking everything into account, the outcomes of this research can begin to conclude that marijuana legalization in US states may likely have a small lasting effect on future education for the entire US population. Everyone at least considers continuing education post-upper secondary schooling, and there are a range of factors which could possibly influence the final decision. This study aimed to combat some of these alternate factors surrounding legalization by including multiple socioeconomic effects, though the findings still emphasized that these socioeconomic factors play a much bigger role in education decision making. The discoveries, despite historic research, are that in this case, marijuana legalization has little to insignificant impressions on young adults in the US.

7 Conclusion

Marijuana legalization has been a growing global phenomenon, with special focus on the US. The US has become the forefront for research regarding what future impacts could entail following changes in marijuana legislation, and what this means for society. As more than half of the country lifts prohibition on this Schedule I drug, a plethora of new studies have been developed with the aim to understand the drug's possible outcomes, and how communities can learn to adjust to these newly enacted policies.

This surge in research encompasses a wide range of topics, including public health implications, economic effects, shifts in crime rates, and changes in social attitudes towards marijuana use (Ryan, 2010; Neeley & Richardson, 2020; Hammond et. al., 2020; Hall, 2014; French et. a., 2022). Researchers are investigating how legalization affects everything from substance abuse patterns and mental health outcomes to the financial benefits from taxation and the impact on law enforcement practices (French et. al., 2022). Additionally, studies are examining the implications for education and workplace environments (Van Ours, 2007).

These earlier investigations have assisted this current studies' comprehension on the potential repercussions of MMLs and RMLs. Through this holistic view, and the implementation of the human capital theory, it is apparent that while evolving marijuana laws may have lasting negative effects on a society, entering higher education students have not been driven by them. As university applications and enrollments in OR, WA, and ID have been gradually increasing over the years 2002-2018, the internal patterns in this increase are far-fetched due to legal marijuana. The initial hypotheses that applications and enrollments could be seen to decline following MMLs and RMLs are now rejected, and this does not apply.

7.1 Research Aims

As states and communities navigate the complexities of legalization, it is crucial for ongoing research to inform policy making and public understanding. This growing body of evidence could help policymakers develop more effective regulations, support services, and educational programs to address the evolving field of legal marijuana use. Ultimately, past research has aimed to provide a comprehensive understanding of how legalization shapes societal structures and guide the development of balanced approaches, and this current study does the same with special focus on higher education. The aim of this study has been to evaluate the trends in university applications and enrollments in three states, and whether these trends are due to legal availability of marijuana and increased public use.

7.2 Research Objectives

The research objectives of this study coincide with the research aims, by evaluating the trends in the progression into university in the US. However, the objectives are specific in reviewing the different socioeconomic factors which could also play a role in differing dynamics. The research encompasses a range of alternate variables shaping higher education decisions, while incorporating the legal status of each given state. Determinants such as unemployment, income, population, and high school achievements have been observed alongside legal status to provide a complete view of reasons as to why one may choose immediate workforce entry or further education. The specific universities chosen across three US states were carefully decided upon through similar characteristics regarding tuition, size of institution, college ranking, and so on. The years for the given study were determined through availability of university data, while consistent with marijuana legislation development. These thorough investigative tactics allowed for a detailed and effective analysis on young adult drug use, which could initiate future ideas on how to combat potential consequences of permitting state use of the plant Cannabis sativa.

7.3 Practical Implications

The main findings of this study is that legalizing marijuana, while this could increase overall use and become problematic, is not adversely affecting university applications and enrollment

patterns. Thus, policies should be actively evolving to combat the potential problems of addiction, dependence, and amotivational syndrome, so that in the future spillover effects into educational attainment are limited. This could be done through drug awareness policies and drug dependence support, as legal marijuana is seemingly becoming more and more common in the US. This research and analysis highlights that while other socioeconomic factors have a much larger impact on educational decisions, easy access to this drug could also likely be correlated. The long-term outcomes are limited in this study, thus it should be emphasized that the aforementioned consequences of heavy use are still probable and should be mitigated through policy interventions. This case study further highlights the complicated relationship between drug use and human capital accumulation, which stresses the need for additional understanding of when consumption becomes problematic and visible in lifetime earnings and status.

7.4 Future Research

While this focus has been on the shift from upper secondary school to university, future research should build on the effects of using marijuana in high school, as studies have shown marijuana use could be correlated with school drop outs, inevitably affecting the ability to apply to universities (Bray et. al., 2000). Future research on adolescent marijuana use, the frequency of this and the potential consequences should be further analyzed. Young adults are at the forefront of drug mistreatment, and are extremely vulnerable to changes in their environment (Pacula & Chaloupka, 1998). Expanded analysis of why this is true could enhance literature on exposure risk and provide deeper insights into the mechanisms underlying adolescent vulnerability, thereby informing more effective intervention strategies and risk management practices.

Future research could also focus on an solely economic perspective, analyzing the state monetary accumulation following MMLs and RMLs. These findings could result in a more holistic view on educational attainment, as it would rely on the US state markets for evidence. This could show that people are still applying and enrolling in universities, with new labor market opportunities on the horizon, given the emerging marijuana industry. Relying on the data from the new industry could accentuate that although there are potential consequences of using marijuana, if not abused, it could create new revenue and a fresh income. The requirements for working in this industry could be different from regular sectors, hence people may not even need a university degree to work in this field. Though, this is unknown as far as this research is concerned, so future research in this area is essential to create a different outlook on legal marijuana. While student dropouts are on the rise, correlated with financial reasons to this, future research on the economic outcomes of working in the marijuana industry and how this is seen in fiscal and individual revenue could be of importance (UPCEA, 2021).

7.5 Concluding Remarks

Ultimately, marijuana has addictive potential and therefore should be carefully monitored (Arria et. al., 2015). As more US states move toward legalizing marijuana both medicinally and recreationally, it becomes an intriguing yet critical case to study in both socioeconomic approaches and political approaches. In the context of this study, a socioeconomic approach with the basis of the human capital theory was adopted. Through this methodology, conclusions were able to be made regarding higher education choices. This study found that legal marijuana has minimal effect on these choices alongside major socioeconomic factors. However, this impact could change as long-term effects become more apparent in developing data, and this outcome should be closely observed. In conclusion, MMLs and RMLs are definitely changing US societies, though in regards to higher education, the impact appears to be modest so far.

References

Units of analysis

Boise State University (BSU). (2024). Common Data Set collection 2000-2023. Available Online:

https://www.boisestate.edu/saem/our-division/archive-data/ [Accessed 15 July 2024]

Census Bureau. (2021). Intercensal Estimates of the Resident Population for the United States, Regions, States, and Puerto Rico 2000-2010. Available Online: https://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/popest/tables/2000-2010/intercensal/state/st-est00int -01.xls [Accessed 14 July 2024]

Census Bureau. (2021). Population, Population Change, and Estimated Components of Population Change 2010-2019. Available Online: https://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/popest/tables/2010-2019/state/totals/nst-est2019-01. xlsx [Accessed 14 July 2024]

Census Bureau. (2023). Program Survey Table H-8. Median Household Income by State 1984-2018. Available Online:

https://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/cps/tables/time-series/historical-income-households/ h08.xls [Accessed 14 July 2024]

Oregon State University (OSU). (2024). Common Data Set collection 1998-2022. Available Online:

https://institutionalresearch.oregonstate.edu/common-data-set [Accessed 15 July 2024]

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). (2019). Average Annual Unemployment Rates by State 1980-2018. Available Online:

https://www.icip.iastate.edu/sites/default/files/uploads/tables/employment/emp-unemployment.xl s [Accessed 14 July 2024]

Washington State University (WSU). (2015). Common Data Set collection 2002-2014. Available Online: https://web.archive.org/web/20150402173101/http://ir.wsu.edu/Common%20Data%20Set [Accessed 15 July 2024]

Washington State University (WSU). (2024). Common Data Set collection 2010-2022. Available Online: https://ir.wsu.edu/common-data-set/ [Accessed 15 July 2024]

Further references

Allen, J. & Holder, M. (2013). Marijuana Use and Well-Being in University Students. *J Happiness Stud*, 15, 301–321. Available Online: DOI 10.1007/s10902-013-9423-1 [Accessed 30 July 2024]

Arria, A. M., Caldeira, K. M., Bugbee, B. A., Vincent, K. B., & O'Grady, K. E. (2015). The academic consequences of marijuana use during college. *Psychology of addictive behaviors : journal of the Society of Psychologists in Addictive Behaviors*, 29:3, 564–575. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1037/adb0000108 [Accessed 9 August 2024]

Azofeifa, A., Mattson M.E., & Lyerla, R. (2016). Supplementary Material. State Level Data: Estimates of Marijuana Use and Related Indicators — National Survey on Drug Use and Health, Idaho, 2002–2014. *Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration*,

Rockville, MD. Available Online:

https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/idaho-2002-2014.pdf [Accessed 3 July 2024]

Azofeifa, A., Mattson M.E., & Lyerla, R. (2016). Supplementary Material. State Level Data: Estimates of Marijuana Use and Related Indicators —

National Survey on Drug Use and Health, Oregon, 2002–2014. *Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Rockville, MD.* Available Online:

https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/oregon-2002-2014.pdf [Accessed 3 July 2024]

Azofeifa, A., Mattson M.E., & Lyerla, R. (2016). Supplementary Material. State Level Data: Estimates of Marijuana Use and Related Indicators —

National Survey on Drug Use and Health, Washington, 2002–2014. *Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Rockville, MD.* Available Online:

https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/washington-2002-2014.pdf [Accessed 3 July 2024]

Bakdash, J.Z., & Marusich, L.R. (2017). Repeated Measures Correlation. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 8:456. Available Online: doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00456 [Accessed 8 August 2024]

Becker, G. (1993). Human Capital: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis, with Special Reference to Education. Third Edition. The University of Chicago Press.

Bray, J., Zarkin, G., Ringwalt, C., & Qi, J. (2000). The Relationship Between Marijuana Initiation and Dropping Out Of High School, *Health Economics*, 9, 9-18. Available Online: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/%28SICI%291099-1050%28200001%299%3A1 %3C9%3A%3AAID-HEC471%3E3.0.CO%3B2-Z [Accessed 5 August 2024]

Bryant, R., Samaranayake, V. A., & Wilhite, A. (2000). The Effect of Drug Use on Wages: A Human Capital Interpretation, *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 26:4, 659-682. Available Online: DOI: 10.1081/ADA-100101901 [Accessed 4 August 2024]

Bryman, A. (2016). Social Research Methods, 5th Ed., Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

BSU. (2020). Student Code of Conduct (Policy 2020). Available Online: https://www.boisestate.edu/policy/student-affairs/code-of-conduct/ [Accessed 3 August 2024]

Callahan, J., Pike, P., Shadle, S., & Landrum, E. (2014). Creating a STEM Identity: Investment with Return, *Materials Science and Engineering Faculty Publications and Presentations*. Available Online:

https://scholarworks.boisestate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1292&&context=mse_facpubs& &sei-redir=1&referer=https%253A%252F%252Fscholar.google.com%252Fscholar%253Fhl%2 53Den%2526as_sdt%253D0%25252C5%2526q%253DSTEM%252Bboise%252Bstate%252Bu niversity%252B%2526btnG%253D#search=%22STEM%20boise%20state%20university%22 [Accessed 20 July 2024]

Creason, C., & Goldman, M. (1981). VARYING LEVELS OF MARIJUANA USE BY ADOLESCENTS AND THE AMOTIVATIONAL SYNDROME, *Psychological Reports*, 48, 447-454. Available Online:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.2466/pr0.1981.48.2.447?casa_token=2DXko4Uv5EgAA AAA:rn4w62tUfkJChDfBG3Kzor-KjdFvDrKRz1FZ7NcUQ0_9xcbnJk48Ofras-kdCyuUU5yoG 0lihErY [Accessed 5 August 2024]

Dacin, T., Goodstein, J., & Scott, W.R. (2002). Institutional Theory and Institutional Change: Introduction to the Special Research Forum. *Academy of Management*. Available Online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/3069284 [Accessed 30 July 2024]

DEA. (2018). Drug Scheduling. Available Online: https://www.dea.gov/drug-information/drug-scheduling [Accessed 8 August 2024]

Fleischhauer, K. J. (2007). A Review of Human Capital Theory: Microeconomics. *University of St. Gallen, Department of Economics Discussion Paper*. Available Online: http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.957993 [Accessed 7 July 2024] Fox 12 News Oregon. (2014). Oregon Voters Legalize Recreational Marijuana. Available Online: https://web.archive.org/web/20141105083758/http://www.kptv.com/story/27273055/measure-91-oregon-voters-decide-on-legalization-of-marijuana?autostart=true [Accessed 20 July 2024]

Fredericksen, E. D, & Riggins, J. (2017). Idaho: Carefully and Cautiously Progressing. *California Journal of Politics and Policy*, 9:4. Available Online: https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3918h1qk [Accessed 1 July 2024]

French, M., Zukerberg, J., Lewandowski, T., Piccolo, K., & Mortensen, K. (2022). Societal Costs and Outcomes of Medical and Recreational Marijuana Policies in the United States: A Systematic Review. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 79:6. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1177/10775587211067 [Accessed 20 July 2024]

Hall, W. (2014). What has research over the past two decades revealed about the adverse health effects of recreational cannabis use? *Addiction*, 110, 19-35. Available Online: doi:10.1111/add.12703 [Accessed 15 July 2024]

Hammond, C. J., Chaney, A., Hendrickson, B., & Sharma, P. (2020). Cannabis use among U.S. adolescents in the era of marijuana legalization: a review of changing use patterns, comorbidity, and health correlates. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 32(3), 221–234. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2020.1713056 [Accessed 1 July 2024]

Hannah, A.L. & Mallinson, D.J. (2018). Defiant Innovation: The Adoption of Medical Marijuana Laws in the American States. *Policy Stud J*, 46, 402-423. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12211 [Accessed 13 July 2024]

Hanson, G. R. (2002). Marijuana Abuse. *National Institute of Drug Abuse* 02-3859. Available Online: https://www.ci2i.research.va.gov/CI2IRESEARCH/docs/rrmj.pdf [Accessed 12 July 2024]

Harwood, H. J., Napolitano, D., Kristiansen, P., & Collins, J., (1984). Economic costs to society of alcohol and drug abuse and mental illness: 1980, No. RTI/2734/00-01FR. *Alcohol, Drug Abuse and Mental Health Administration, Research Triangle Institute, Research Triangle Park, NC*. Available Online:

https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/economic-costs-society-alcohol-and-drug-abu se-and-mental-illness [Accessed 10 July 2024]

Houser, K. A. & Rosacker, R. E. (2014). High Times: A History of Marijuana Laws in the United States. *International Journal of Business & Public Administration*, 11:2, 131-141. Available Online:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,uid&db=bth&AN=10089926 8&site=eds-live&scope=site [Accessed 1 July 2024]

Jones, J., Nicole Jones, K., & Peil, J. (2018). The impact of the legalization of recreational marijuana on college students. *Addictive behaviors*, 77, 255–259. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.08.015 [Accessed 9 July 2024]

Koretsky, M., Bouwma-Gearhart, J., Brown, P.E., S. Dick, T., Brubaker-Cole, S., Sitomer, A., Fisher, K., Risien, J., Little II, D., Smith, C., & Ivanovitch, J. (2015) Enhancing STEM Education at Oregon State University – Year 1. *122nd ASEE Annual Conference & Exposition*. Available Online:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Julie-Risien/publication/317416496_Enhancing_STEM_Ed ucation_at_Oregon_State_University_-_Year_1/links/593a09bc4585153206379c0d/Enhancing-S TEM-Education-at-Oregon-State-University-Year-1.pdf [Accessed 17 July 2024]

Kornbrot, D. (2005). Point Biserial Correlation. *Wiley StatsRef: Statistics Reference Online*. Available Online: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/9781118445112.stat06227 [Accessed 8 August 2024]

Lechner, M. (2010). The Estimation of Causal Effects by Difference-in-Difference Methods, *Foundations and Trends in Econometrics*, 4:3, 165-224. Available Online: ISBN: 978-1-60198-498-2 [Accessed 1 August 2024]

Marginson S. (2019). Limitations of human capital theory, *Studies in Higher Education*, 44:2, 287-301, Available Online: DOI: 10.1080/03075079.2017.1359823 [Accessed 1 August 2024]

Martins, S. S., Mauro, C. M., Santaella-Tenorio, J., Kim, J. H., Cerda, M., Keyes, K. M., Hasin, D. S., Galea, S., & Wall, M. (2016). State-level medical marijuana laws, marijuana use and perceived availability of marijuana among the general U.S. population. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 169, 26–32. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.10.004 [Accessed 4 July 2024]

Mitchell, W., Bhatia, R., & Zebardast, N. (2020). Retrospective cross-sectional analysis of the changes in marijuana use in the USA, 2005–2018. *BMJ Open*. Available Online: doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-037905 [Accessed 28 July 2024]

Morse, R. & Brooks, E. (2023). How U.S. News Calculated the 2024 Best Colleges Rankings. Available Online:

https://www.usnews.com/education/best-colleges/articles/how-us-news-calculated-the-rankings [Accessed 24 July 2024]

National Survey on Drug Use and Health (2022). *Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration* (HHS Publication No. PEP23-07-01-006, NSDUH Series H-58). Available Online: https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/2022-nsduh-annual-national-report [Accessed 7 July 2024]

NCSL. (2024). State Medical Cannabis Laws. Available Online: https://www.ncsl.org/health/state-medical-cannabis-laws [Accessed 23 July 2024]

Neeley, G. & Richardson Jr, L. (2022). Marijuana Policy Bundles in the American States Over Time and Their Impact on the Use of Marijuana and Other Drugs. *Evaluation Review*, 46:2, 165-199. Available Online: DOI: 10.1177/0193841X221077795 [Accessed 21 July 2024]

OSU. (2022). ALCOHOL AND OTHER DRUG INFORMATION: for Students and Employees. Available Online:

https://studenthealth.oregonstate.edu/sites/studenthealth.oregonstate.edu/files/2022-09/091322_a nnual_aod_notification-2021.pdf [Accessed 3 August 2024]

Pacula, R. L. (2010). Examining the Impact of Marijuana Legalization on Marijuana Consumption. *Drug Policy Research Center*. Available Online: https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/working_papers/2010/RAND_WR770.pdf [Accessed 9 July 2024]

Pacula, R.L. & Chaloupka, F. (1998). The Effects of Macro-level Interventions on Addictive Behavior. *Substance Use & Misuse*. Available Online:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Rosalie-Pacula/publication/11562403_The_effects_of_macr o-level_interventions_on_addictive_behavior/links/02e7e51dc3bcc4870b000000/The-effects-ofmacro-level-interventions-on-addictive-behavior.pdf [Accessed 5 August 2024]

Pacula, R. L., & Smart, R. (2017). Medical Marijuana and Marijuana Legalization. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, 13, 397–419. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045128 [Accessed 5 July 2024]

Peterson, B., Bornemann, G., Lydon, C., & West, K. (2015). Rural Students in Washington State: STEM as a Strategy for Building Rigor, Postsecondary Aspirations, and Relevant Career Opportunities, *Peabody Journal of Education*, 90:2, 280-293. Available Online: DOI: 10.1080/0161956X.2015.1022397 [Accessed 20 July 2024] Pomykacz, C. (2020). Comparing Marijuana Use Among Adults in the United States: Comparing Correlates of Use, Assessing Impact of Education, and Evaluating Use and Health amid Justice-Involved Populations. *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*, 271. Available Online: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd2020/271 [Accessed 14 July 2024]

R Core Team (2024). _R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing_. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/.

RINGEL, J.S., ELLICKSON, P.L. & COLLINS, R.L. (2006). THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN HIGH SCHOOL MARIJUANA USE AND ANNUAL EARNINGS AMONG YOUNG ADULT MALES. *Contemporary Economic Policy*, 24, 52-63. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1093/cep/byj006 [Accessed 21 July 2024]

Ryan, A. (2010). The Lasting Effects of Marijuana Use on Educational Attainment in Midlife, *Substance Use & Misuse*, 45:4, 554-597, Available Online: DOI: 10.3109/10826080802490238 [Accessed 7 July 2024]

Ruhomally, Y., Dauhoo, M., & Dumas, L. (2022). Stochastic modelling of marijuana use in Washington: pre- and post-Initiative-502 (I-502). *IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics*, 87, 1121–1150. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1093/imamat/hxac032 [Accessed 5 August 2024]

Sahu, P. (2020). Closure of Universities Due to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Impact on Education and Mental Health of Students and Academic Staff. *Cureus*, 12:4. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.7541 [Accessed 23 July 2024]

Schaefer, D. (1998). Initiative 692 -- States Back Medical Marijuana. *Seattle Times Staff Reporter*. Available Online: https://archive.seattletimes.com/archive/?date=19981104&slug=2781533 [Accessed 3 August 2024]

Suerken, C. K., Reboussin, B. A., Egan, K. L., Sutfin, E. L., Wagoner, K. G., Spangler, J., Wolfson, M. (2016). Marijuana use trajectories and academic outcomes among college students. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 162. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.02.041 [Accessed 12 July 2024]

Templ, M., Kowarik, A., & Filzmoser, P. (2011). Iterative stepwise regression imputation using standard and robust methods, *Computational Statistics and Data Analysis*, 55, 2793-2806. Available Online: doi:10.1016/j.csda.2011.04.012 [Accessed 8 August 2024]

Thompson, K., Leadbeater, B., Ames, M., Merrin, G. J. (2018). Associations Between Marijuana Use Trajectories and Educational and Occupational Success in Young Adulthood. *Prev Sci*, 20, 257–269. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-018-0904-7 [Accessed 12 July 2024]

UPCEA. (2021). New Research Answers Question Every College Wants to Know: Why Do Students Leave and How Do We Get Them Back? *The Online and Professional Education Association*. Available Online:

https://upcea.edu/new-research-answers-question-every-college-wants-to-know-why-do-students -leave-and-how-do-we-get-them-back/ [Accessed 20 July 2024]

US News. (2023). Best National University Rankings. Available Online: https://www.usnews.com/best-colleges/rankings/national-universities?schoolName=Boise+State +University&_sort=rank&_sortDirection=asc&_mode=table [Accessed 24 July 2024]

Van Ours, J.C. (2007). The Effects of Cannabis Use on Wages of Prime-age Males*. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, 69: 619-634. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0084.2007.00480.x [Accessed on 13 July 2024]

Van Ours, J.C. and Williams, J. (2014), CANNABIS USE AND ITS EFFECTS ON HEALTH, EDUCATION AND LABOR MARKET SUCCESS. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 29: 993-1010. Available Online: https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12070 [Accessed 9 July 2024]

Wrigley, N. (1986). Quantitative methods: the era of longitudinal data analysis. *Progress of Human Geography*. Available Online:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/030913258601000105?casa_token=jpOU7lZz-VA AAAAA:5Mrio1LjIt4GI-fr4ZuvrmD2a36tKkYNYEcG-djeNbxGK4DJE1_vlP8xWfEfoC0pXz_ Y9zV8wRmx [Accessed 7 August 2024]

WSU. (2019). Center for Community Standards: Alcohol and Drug Policy. Available Online: https://communitystandards.wsu.edu/policies-and-reporting/alcohol-and-drug-policy/#:~:text=de signated%20residence%20hall.-,Marijuana,violation%20of%20our%20community%20standards . [Accessed 3 August 2024]

Appendix A



Figure 1: Independent variables relation to application patterns for OSU.

Figure 2: Independent variables relation to application patterns for WSU.



WSU Applications vs Various Variables

Figure 3: Independent variables relation to application patterns for BSU.



Figure 4: Independent variables relation to enrollment patterns for OSU.



OSU Enrollment vs Various Variables

Figure 5: Independent variables relation to enrollment patterns for WSU.



WSU Enrollment vs Various Variables

Figure 6: Independent variables relation to enrollment patterns for BSU.



BSU Enrollment vs Various Variables